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JUDGMENT 

 

[1] GREEN QC, J. [Ag.]: This is a contested application by Comodo Holdings Limited 

(“Comodo”), the Claimant in this action, for permission to amend its statements of case, that is 

the Claim Form1, the Re-Amended Points of Claim and the Re-Amended Points of Reply and 

Defence to Counterclaim.  

 

[2] The odd thing about this application is the timing of it: the trial in this matter was listed to be 

heard from 13 March 2018 but for various reasons that date had to be vacated; the relisted trial 

is due to commence on 25 June 2019 with a time estimate of 12 days. No similar application 

was made by Comodo before the expected trial last year and it was ready to proceed with the 

trial on its existing pleadings. The application is based on “new” evidence that was available 

before last year’s trial and was relied on heavily by Comodo in terms of the way it was going to 

present its case at the trial. The first time Comodo suggested that it wished to amend its 

pleadings was towards the end of October 2018 and this application was issued on 20 

November 2018. The proximity of the new trial date to the hearing of and judgment on this 

application is a matter that concerns me and, despite Mr Francis’ submissions to the contrary 

on behalf of Comodo, will be something that I am bound to take into account in balancing the 

factors for and against the grant of permission.  

 

[3] Mr Francis, throughout his submissions, stressed that the proposed amendments were merely 

a “tidying up exercise” or “tweaking”; that Comodo’s case was already “tolerably clear”; that 

there was “nothing new” in them; and even that it was not “necessary” to make the 

amendments. One might be forgiven for wondering why, if the amendments are not 

“necessary”, such an application is being made so close to the trial and when it would be 

known that it would be vigorously opposed by the Defendants (as everything is in this case). Mr 

Francis’ answer to that question is that, based on the fact that every point is taken in these 

proceedings, Comodo is trying to ensure time is not wasted at the trial on procedural objections 

by the Defendants that the case being made by Comodo is not properly pleaded. I rather doubt 

that, even if I was to grant permission to amend, this will avoid such points being taken at the 

trial but that appears to be the sole purpose of the application.   

                                                           
1 The Amendments to the Claim Form were mistakenly left out of the Application Notice but no point is taken 
on that. 
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[4] Mr Paul Chaisty QC on behalf of the Defendants says, by contrast, that these are significant 

amendments that Comodo is seeking to make and cannot be described as a “tidying up 

exercise”; they give rise to limitation issues and are in any event not coherent; and are very late 

and, taking into account the procedural history, should not be allowed. Perhaps predictably, Mr 

Chaisty QC says that, if the amendments are allowed, they will cause the Defendants serious 

prejudice in terms of disclosure and that the trial date will be threatened. Mr Francis says that 

the alleged prejudice has been exaggerated by the Defendants.  

 

 

The Claim 

 

[5] Comodo is a leading cybersecurity firm whose shares are presently very valuable. It was  

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) under the International Business Companies 

Act 1984, later re-registered under the Business Companies Act 2004 (“the Act”). In 1998, 

Comodo was acquired by Mr Melih Abdulhayoglu who is its current President. A little later Mr 

Abdulhayoglu was introduced to Mr Eric Emanuel as a possible investor. Mr Emanuel’s 

investment vehicle was Renaissance Ventures Limited, the First Defendant (“Renaissance”) 

and it entered into a Subscription Agreement in January 1999 to subscribe for 50 shares in 

Comodo for a total price of $750,000, payable by instalments. The money was paid and the 

shares were issued to Renaissance. The dispute concerns, in broad terms, whether the money 

came from Mr Emanuel personally or from third party investors. Mr Emanuel was appointed as 

a director of Comodo on 28 October 2000. 

 

[6] Further shares were issued by Comodo to Mr Emanuel in 2003 on the basis of representations 

that Renaissance had loaned monies to Comodo and the shares were by way of discharge of 

Comodo’s liability under those loans. Comodo claims that such representations were false.  

 

[7] There is no evidence that a share register was being maintained at the time and neither 

Renaissance nor Mr Emanuel was entered as members on any share register of Comodo. Mr 

Emanuel has since died and the Second Defendant, Mr Joseph Katz, is the executor of Mr 

Emanuel’s estate, and is sued in that capacity.  

 

[8] The current Claim Form and Re-Amended Points of Claim seek very simple relief: declarations 

that Renaissance and Mr Emanuel are not members of Comodo. The Re-Amended Points of 

Claim are just two paragraphs long and assert that the Defendants are not members of 
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Comodo because they did not pay for any shares or share certificates issued in their name or 

to their benefit and they are not entered on Comodo’s share register. The Defendants have 

counterclaimed for rectification of Comodo’s share register under s.43 of the Act as they say 

that they are rightfully in possession of 4 share certificates issued by Comodo in their names: 

share certificate no.6 in the name of Renaissance; and share certificates nos. 35, 36 and 37 in 

the name of Mr Emanuel (together the “Disputed Shares”). 

 

[9] It is in the Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim that one finds the substance of 

Comodo’s case. In that, Comodo pleads that it was wrongly induced to issue the Disputed 

Shares pursuant to false representations in particular that Mr Emanuel was a wealthy individual 

who would be investing his own money in Comodo. Comodo also pleads that Comodo entered 

into a joint venture agreement with Mr Emanuel whereby he would secure further investment 

from third parties into Comodo. Comodo’s case is that Renaissance and Mr Emanuel did not 

use their own money to subscribe for the Disputed Shares but rather they used money derived 

from third party investors who thought they were investing directly in Comodo. As their money 

was used by Renaissance/Mr Emanuel, Comodo says it was deprived of the extra investment 

from those third parties and that Mr Emanuel had failed to secure that extra investment was 

paid to Comodo. In relation to the other Disputed Shares, Comodo pleads that Renaissance did 

not loan its own or Mr Emanuel’s money to Comodo and so the shares were wrongly issued to 

Mr Emanuel.  

 

Procedural History 

 

[10] It is important to consider the application in the context of the long procedural history of the 

claim and in particular the way the pleadings have evolved and been dealt with over time. As 

this application is being heard shortly before the trial, this seems to me to be highly relevant to 

understanding the purpose and basis of the proposed amendments. 

 

[11] The proceedings began by way of Fixed Date Claim Form2 as long ago as 19 April 2013. As 

originally issued the Claim Form sought declarations that: 

 

                                                           
2 I assume this is why the Pleadings are Points of Claim and Defence – they were effectively converted into 
ordinary proceedings 
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(1) Comodo was entitled to treat the holders of registered shares (i.e. not the 

Defendants) as the only persons entitled to exercise rights and powers attaching to 

the shares 

(2) As to whether a sealed stock certificate creates a presumptive proof of ownership; 

(3) As to whether an arbitral tribunal would have jurisdiction if constituted by a non-

member.  

 

[12] The Claim Form was amended on 3 May 2013 merely to add specific reference to the 

Defendants. 

 

[13] The original Points of Claim is dated 6 May 2013. It is considerably longer than its current form 

setting out the history of the matter, certain representations of Mr Emanuel that were relied 

upon and claiming that the Disputed Shares were null and void because there was no proof 

that either Renaissance or Mr Emanuel ever paid for them. The assertion was that they had 

used third party investors’ money, not their own, to subscribe for the shares. The same relief as 

in the Claim Form was sought. 

 

[14] On 16 May 2013, further immaterial amendments were made to the Claim Form and Points of 

Claim.  

 

[15] On 9 August 2013, Comodo sought to make significant amendments to the Amended Claim 

Form and Amended Points of Claim. The essence of the amendments was to introduce a 

monetary claim for $4,563,464 based on the Defendants’ alleged breaches of fiduciary duty 

and breaches of trust. Comodo was alleging that the Defendants retained the said sum of 

$4,563,464 out of a total of $10,153,464.50 paid by third party investors for shares in Comodo. 

It was also alleged that the Defendants had acted in breach of the joint venture agreement and 

had failed to account for the secret profits they had made to the detriment of Comodo.  

 

[16] On 17 October 2013, Bannister J struck out the proposed amendments to the Amended Claim 

Form and Amended Points of Claim leaving just the simple claims for declarations that the 

Defendants are not members of Comodo based on the fact that they had not paid for the 

shares and were not on the register. The Order however expressly stated that the strike out 

was without prejudice to Comodo’s right to apply for permission to amend.  
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[17] The Defendants’ Points of Defence and Counterclaim and Comodo’s Reply and Defence to 

Counterclaim had been served in September and October 2013 respectively. The latter 

pleading was a straight denial of the Counterclaim without any allegations of misrepresentation 

or breach of duty.  

 

[18] On 3 November 2014, Renaissance issued an application for summary judgment. 

 

[19] On 25 November 2014, by way of response to the summary judgment application and pursuant 

to the express rights to do so in Bannister J’s Order of 17 October 2013, Comodo made a 

further application to amend its pleadings in the form of a Re-Amended Claim Form and Re-

Amended Points of Claim. The amendments were the same as were struck out by Bannister J 

on 17 October 2013. Comodo also sought permission to amend its Reply and Defence to 

Counterclaim. The grounds of the application as set out in the notice included the following: 

 

“As the facts and additional claims herein arise from allegations of fraudulent breach of 
trust, misrepresentation and or breach of fiduciary duties, the nature of which only 
came to the knowledge of the Claimant from on or about 14 September 2012 together 
with claims to recover from a trust property to which no limitation period attaches by 
virtue of the provisions of s.19(1)(b) Limitation Act.”  

 

[20] On 4 December 2014, Bannister J dismissed the application to amend the Re-Amended Claim 

Form and Amended Points of Claim. This was largely on the basis that they were arguably 

time-barred and did not arise out of the same facts upon which the original claim was based. In 

relation to the amendments to the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim, Bannister J allowed 

some of them but not all. In particular, the misrepresentation amendments were not allowed. 

Permission to appeal was granted.  

 

[21] On 15 December 2014, Bannister J granted summary judgment to Renaissance on its 

Counterclaim. Mr Katz had not issued a summary judgment application.  

 

[22] On 18 December 2014, Comodo lodged an appeal against the summary judgment and in 

respect of the disallowed amendments to the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim. Importantly it 

took a decision not to appeal in respect of the disallowed amendments to the Re-Amended 

Claim Form and Amended Points of Claim. Mr Francis said that this was because Comodo was 

not interested in pursuing a monetary claim.  
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[23] After a hearing on 21 May 2015, the Court of Appeal delivered its judgment on 3 May 2016.  

The Court of Appeal allowed Comodo’s appeal on both summary judgment and the 

amendments to the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim. In paragraph 96 of the judgment of 

Blenman JA this was said: 

 

“96. In the case before the court, the judge was not merely required to rectify the 
register but critically would have needed to determine who had title to the 
shares. He would only be able properly to do so after there is a full ventilation 
of the issues that have been joined by Comodo and Renaissance.”  

 

In allowing the amendments to the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim, Blenman JA said that 

the misrepresentation allegations together with Mr Emanuel’s dealings with third parties were 

“fundamental to Comodo’s claim” (para. 76).  

 

[24] Until this application, the pleadings have remained the same from the time of the Court of 

Appeal judgment. The Re-Amended Claim Form and Re-Amended Points of Claim are as 

struck through by Bannister J. The Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim is as per the 

amendments allowed by both Bannister J and the Court of Appeal. These were the pleadings 

that Comodo was prepared to go into the trial with in March 2018. No application to amend was 

made before that trial date. 

 

[25] Comodo and the Defendants blame each other for delays and tactical game playing. It is not 

relevant for this application as to who is to blame. So I will set out a neutral chronology of the 

key procedural events from the Court of Appeal judgment to date: 

 

(1) On 8 June 2016, the Defendants filed a Rejoinder and Reply to Amended Defence to 

Counterclaim. 

(2) On 21 March 2017, Wallbank J gave directions as to disclosure, witness statements and a 

pre- trial review. There was a direction for the trial to be listed in March 2018 unless an 

earlier suitable date became available. 

(3) In May 2017, standard disclosure took place. 

(4) On 6 December 2017, witness statements were exchanged. 

(5) On 15 January 2018, supplemental witness statements were exchanged. 

(6) On 23 January 2018, there was a pre-trial review at which the Defendants’ application for a 

freezing injunction was heard and granted. 
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(7) On 21 February 2018, Adderley J heard both parties’ applications for specific disclosure. 

Certain categories were ordered and others refused on both applications. 

(8) On 28 February 2018, the Defendants applied to Adderley J for permission to appeal the 

disclosure order but this was refused. 

(9) On 2 March 2018, the Defendants applied ex parte to the Court of Appeal for permission to 

appeal and were granted it.  

(10) On 9 March 2018, the Defendants’ application for an adjournment of the trial due to 

commence on 13 March 2018 was heard. It was opposed by Comodo. The adjournment 

was granted.  

(11) On 10 May 2018, the Defendants applied for a new trial listing. 

(12) On 11 June 2018, Comodo applied for the discharge of a freezing injunction granted on 23 

January 2018 to continue to trial. Judgment is still awaited on that application. 

(13) On or around 9 July 2018, the parties were notified that the trial was relisted on 25 June 

2019 with a time estimate of 12 days. 

(14) On 11 July 2018 the Court of Appeal heard the Defendants’ disclosure appeal and on 13 

July 2018 allowed the appeal and ordered Comodo to provide disclosure within 14 days. 

However, on 27 July 2018 the Court of Appeal granted a stay pending determination of 

Comodo’s application for conditional leave to appeal to the Privy Council, although it was 

ordered to provide the disclosure in a sealed envelope to be lodged in the Court Registry. 

(15) On 8 October 2018 the Court of Appeal refused Comodo conditional leave to appeal. A 

further partial stay was ordered pending an application by Comodo to the Privy Council for 

a stay and special leave to appeal.  

(16) On 23 October 2018, Comodo indicated that it would not be seeking leave to appeal to the 

Privy Council. In the same letter Comodo said that it was likely that they would “wish to tidy 

up the pleadings” (see below). 

(17) On 5 November 2018 the parties signed a consent order to release the sealed disclosure 

from the Court.  
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The Application to amend 

 

[26] The letter dated 23 October 2018 from Comodo’s legal practitioners, Maples and Calder 

(“Maples”)3 was the first time there had been any suggestion that Comodo was considering 

amending its pleadings. After notifying the Defendants’ legal practitioners, Conyers Dill & 

Pearman (“Conyers”), that Comodo was not pursuing an appeal to the Privy Council on 

disclosure, Maples said in that letter (emphasis added): 

“To that end, we are currently reviewing the pleadings and evidence, and continuing to 
examine the adequacy of your clients’ disclosure, to ensure that everything is in place 
well in advance of the trial date to allow the trial to proceed smoothly… 

From the limited work we have already done, it appears likely we will wish to tidy up 
the pleadings to bring them in line with the facts disclosed by the witness statements. 
We will be in touch shortly to confirm whether this is so, in which case we will also 
provide you with our proposed draft amendments for your consideration.” 

 

[27] On 29 October 2018, Maples wrote again to Conyers, this time enclosing the proposed 

amendments contained in a draft Re-re-amended Points of Claim and Re-Amended Reply and 

Defence to Counterclaim. In that letter Maples said this (emphasis added): 

“As you will recall, our letter indicated our intention to tidy up our client’s pleadings to 
bring them in line with the facts disclosed by the witness statements in these 
proceeding. 

Please now find enclosed drafts of our client’s proposed Re-re-amended Points of 
Claim and Re-amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim.4 

The amendments are entirely based on the facts already pleaded and in evidence and 
serve to clarify the relief sought by the Claimant. Our client intends to issue an 
application in the week commencing 5 November 2018 to ask the Court for permission 
to file the amended statements of case. We do not foresee any impact on the trial date 
as a result of the amendments being granted. 

We hereby request that your clients to confirm that they do not oppose our client’s 
application to the Court for permission to amend the two statements of case. 

We look forward to receiving such confirmation by close of business on Monday, 5 
November 2018.” 

 

                                                           
3 Maples had taken over from Walkers in or around April 2018 
4 A proposed Further Re-Amended Claim Form was subsequently included in Comodo's application. 
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[28] Mr Francis submitted that the Defendants should just have consented to the amendments as 

they did not change anything and did not threaten the trial date. I think it was unrealistic to 

expect the Defendants simply to accept the amendments and it was always very likely that they 

would mount vigorous opposition to such an application, as they have done. Whether that is 

justified, I will have to decide, but I do feel that it was incumbent on Comodo to get on with its 

application, knowing the likely reaction and to avoid any threat to the new trial date which was 

both parties’ professed aim.  

 

[29] No consent was forthcoming and Comodo issued its application on 20 November 2018. It was 

not accompanied by a Certificate of Urgency and so it had to take its turn in the list, coming on 

before me four months later.  

 

[30] The Grounds set out in the Notice of Application included the following (emphasis added): 

 

“(2) The Applicant has made this application promptly after becoming aware it 
wished to make the amendments. The decision to do so was made in the 
course of a review of the proceedings conducted after a Court of Appeal 
hearing on 8 October 2018. 

(3 ) The Applicant would be seriously prejudiced if the application were refused: 

(a) The amendments are necessary to clarify and ensure that all matters in 
dispute, as apparent from the pleadings and evidence, are determined at 
trial and that appropriate relief may be granted; 

(b) The amendments rely on facts already referred to in the pleadings and 
evidence, most, if not all, of which are common ground between the 
parties. 

(c) They seek to bring clarity to the Applicant’s case by particularising existing 
allegations of breach of fiduciary duty and elaborating upon the precise 
legal consequences thereof. 

(d) They set out an available alternative legal analysis for the relief currently 
claimed, namely declarations of the Applicant’s ownership of the disputed 
shares. 

(e) They simplify the claim and may shorten the trial. 

In the premises, the existing pleadings and evidence demonstrate the 
Applicant is legally entitled to the relief currently claimed on a slightly modified 
legal basis to that currently pleaded. The amendments serve to explain this 
and to ensure the Applicant is entitled to rely at trial on all legal arguments to 
which the facts give rise, so that the case is disposed of justly.” 

 

[31] The first point to make is that, despite the alleged “necessity” of the amendments in the 

application notice, Mr Francis made it quite clear that the amendments are unnecessary and 
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are merely a “tidying up exercise”. Perhaps more importantly is that it appears from the 

application notice that the whole purpose is to allow Comodo to claim alternative relief, that the 

Disputed Shares are held on trust for Comodo, and that this is based on the “facts already 

referred to in the pleadings and evidence” most of which are apparently common ground. 

 

The evidence that supports the alternative claim 

 

[32] Mr Francis fully accepted that all the evidence that Comodo relies upon as supporting the 

amendments pre-dates the original trial date and would have been fully deployed at the trial in 

support of Comodo’s unamended case. He has particularly relied upon what has been called 

the Colorado evidence, which Mr Francis described as a “watershed” as it confirmed absolutely 

what had always been Comodo’s case, that Renaissance was merely being used by Mr 

Emanuel as a “pass through vehicle” to enable funds to be provided by third party investors to 

Comodo. 

 

[33] The Colorado evidence is dealt with in Mr Abdulhayoglu’s Second Witness Statement dated 15 

January 2018, prepared for the purposes of the trial, but it occupies just 4 paragraphs out of a 

total of 221. It now appears to be at the forefront of Comodo’s case and, as Mr Abdulhayoglu 

said in para. 48 of his Eleventh Affidavit sworn on 20 November 2018 in support of this 

application, “is of central importance to the proposed amendments and the outcome of the 

action”.  

 

[34] The Colorado evidence first surfaced in the course of Comodo’s search for evidence in rebuttal 

to Mr Katz’s first witness statement dated 6 December 2017 and it is a transcript of sworn 

testimony given by Mr Emanuel to the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of 

Colorado in 2004. The claim before the court was by Stinky Love Inc against a Mr Lacy and 

Renaissance. Mr Lacy was a bankrupt who had purportedly invested $800,000 into 

Renaissance and Stinky Love Inc obtained freezing relief over Renaissance’s bank account. In 

resisting Stinky Love Inc’s claims to those funds, Mr Emanuel gave evidence on behalf of 

Renaissance to explain what was Renaissance’s function and whether it was Renaissance’s 

money in the account. Mr Emanuel said that “Renaissance is a funding entity for the sole 

purpose of funding Comodo”. When he was asked why Renaissance did not produce financial 

statements, Mr Emanuel said:  
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“Because Renaissance doesn’t really have a profit and loss statement. All it does is 
pass monies on to Comodo, and Comodo has accountants…And the only thing that 
Comodo wants from Renaissance is funding. And therefore Renaissance does not 
carry a balance sheet. The money is passed directly from Renaissance to Comodo, 
and its subsidiaries. And that’s the reason why it has…and everybody is under the 
understanding that that’s what occurs.”  

 

[35] It is obvious that this is highly material evidence for Comodo. As Mr Abdulhayoglu said in para. 

48 of his Eleventh Affidavit: 

 

“It provides direct, incontrovertible, contemporaneous evidence from Mr Emanuel, the 
principal of Renaissance, under oath confirming that Renaissance’s sole intended 
purpose was to raise and pass on funds to Comodo as its agent and trustee; that 
Renaissance itself was not intended to, nor (according to his evidence) did it, turn a 
profit or hold assets beneficially. It makes clear that Renaissance took money from 
investors which was intended to pass “directly from Renaissance to Comodo”.”  

 

[36] Of course this crucial evidence was available for the trial last year and Comodo was content to 

go into that trial without its pleadings being amended. Furthermore, Comodo had other 

evidence on the nature of Renaissance’s role, some of which had been specifically pleaded (Dr 

Nisi and Mr and Mrs Golden) and others of which had emerged from the evidence in relation to 

what third party investors were told as to Renaissance’s role, including Ms Blank, Mr Stierwalt5, 

Mr Gatti, Mr Bruni and Ms Kimmel. It also had evidence of a share exchange scheme whereby 

Renaissance shares would be exchanged for Comodo shares, Mr Emanuel’s estate tax returns 

showing Renaissance as a “non-active nominee company” and the lack of Renaissance 

financial statements for the same reason as was referred to in Mr Emanuel’s evidence in 

Colorado. As the Defendants point out all this evidence has been available to Comodo for a 

considerable period of time, pre-dating the witness statements in some cases. Nevertheless it 

is what has inspired this application.  

 

The current pleadings 

[37] As stated above, the Re-Amended Points of Claim is currently 2 paragraphs long. Paragraph 2 

asserts simply that neither of the Defendants are members of Comodo because: 

                                                           
5 Mr Emanuel specifically stated in a letter to Mr Stierwalt that Renaissance “acts as a pass through entity for 
the funding [of] Comodo” 
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“(a) In breach of Article 4.2 of [Comodo’s] Articles of Association, neither 
Defendant has paid for any shares or share certificates issued in their name or 
to their benefit; and 

  (b) Their names do not appear on the Share Register.” 

On the basis of those averments, Comodo claims declarations that the Defendants “are not 

[members] of [Comodo]”. 

 

[38] Mr Francis says that, because of the way the pleadings evolved, the meat of Comodo’s case is 

pleaded in the Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim. Furthermore, he says that 

Comodo has alleged breach of fiduciary duty, breach of trust and that the Disputed Shares are 

held on trust for Comodo. He took me to the following paragraphs: 

 

(a) Para. 3 of the Reply – this is the response to the Defendants’ plea that the share 

certificates were duly signed and sealed on behalf of Comodo. Comodo’s response was: 

“the averred signatures and corporate seal were wrongfully obtained by the 
Defendants pursuant to the representations of and/or breach of fiduciary duty by [Mr 
Emanuel] at all material times after the Initial Representations a director of 
[Renaissance] as particularised below in the Amended Defence to Counterclaim.” 

This was a rather vague plea of breach of fiduciary duties owed to Renaissance and says 

that this is particularized later in the pleadings. 

(b) Para. 5 of the Reply contains a bare assertion of “Mr Emanuel’s false representations 

and/or breach of fiduciary duty particularised below in the Amended Defence to 

Counterclaim.” 

(c) Para 16 of the Defence to Counterclaim – Comodo avers that the only money received by 

Renaissance between January 1999 and January 2000 was “from investors seeking to 

invest directly in [Comodo].” 

(d) Then in para. 18, there is an allegation of what Mr Francis described as a Quistclose trust6 

that monies paid by Mr and Mrs Golden to Renaissance “were expressly to be used for the 

purchase of shares in [Comodo] and were accordingly impressed with a trust for them to be 

used for that purpose and none other”. I assume that, as is pleaded in para. 19, Mr and 

Mrs Golden did receive shares in Comodo such that the Quistclose trust did not survive. 

                                                           
6 After Barclays Bank Ltd v Quistclose Investments Ltd [1970] AC 567 – in which it was held that a loan for a 
specific purpose, where the money is not used for that purpose, it is held by the borrower on resulting trust 
for the lender. 
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(e) Para. 50 contains a form of trust for Comodo plea. It states (emphasis added): 

 

“The Loan Representation was false in that the money paid by Renaissance to 
[Comodo] was not a loan by Renaissance but the payment to [Comodo] of money it 
had collected as agent for [Comodo] from persons who had subscribed for shares in 
[Comodo], and which it held on trust for [Comodo].” 

 

While it is true to say that there is a plea of a trust for Comodo in there, and Mr Francis 

described it initially as an express trust but later as a constructive trust, there are two 

important points to be made: 

(i) Para. 50 is an explanation as to why the Loan Representation was 

false; that was because Renaissance had not loaned any money to 

Comodo but rather the third party investors had loaned money to 

Comodo via Renaissance who was acting as Comodo’s agent; 

(ii) What is pleaded is only a trust of the monies and this has been done 

purely to show that Renaissance did not provide its own monies to 

Comodo; there is no claim by Comodo for those monies because it 

accepts that the monies were indeed paid to it. This is clear from para. 

51 which states that “no consideration was provided for the Loan 

Shares”.  

Accordingly, this has nothing to do with a trust of the Disputed Shares. Nor is there any 

plea of breach of trust. And the existing plea is clearly supported by the Colorado 

evidence.  

(f) Paras 71 and 72 contain allegations that the making of the false representations to induce 

the issue of the share certificates to him were in “breach of the fiduciary duty [Mr Emanuel] 

owed to [Comodo] as one of its directors.” This is the only plea of breach of fiduciary duty 

in the Defence to Counterclaim and the strange thing is that in the Reply there is an alleged 

breach of duty to Renaissance whereas in the Defence to Counterclaim there is an alleged 

breach of duty to Comodo. Furthermore, the latter was meant to be the particularisation of 

the former see subparagraphs (a) and (b) above. In any event, the plea is limited to asking 

that the Court should not exercise its discretion in favour of the Defendants because, inter 

alia, Mr Emanuel acted in breach of fiduciary duty. There is no wider plea of constructive 

trust, dishonest assistance or tracing. The pleading is totally silent on those issues.  
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[39] Mr Francis says that there are already allegations of breach of fiduciary duty and the existence 

of trusts and so the proposed amendments are merely “tweaking” those existing allegations. As 

I have stated above, I consider that the existing pleas in that respect are very narrowly confined 

to answering a specific averment in the Counterclaim. There is no real allegation of trust, 

certainly no claim to a continuing trust, and the breach of fiduciary duty is wholly based on the 

alleged false representations and only relied upon for the purposes of the exercise of the 

Court’s discretion, if the Defendants were otherwise entitled to rectification.  

 

[40] Mr Francis also said that everyone has always understood the case to be about a fraudulent 

scheme and the dishonesty of Mr Emanuel and he showed me the transcript of the ex parte 

hearing before the Court of Appeal on 2 March 2018 where the Defendants’ counsel said that 

on a number of occasions. While that may be so, I have to look at the case in the way it is 

pleaded, particularly when considering an application to amend, and if fraud or dishonesty was 

part of the claim, it would need to have been clearly pleaded with all proper particulars. There is 

a plea that the representations were fraudulently made but there is no other plea of a wider 

fraud or fraudulent scheme. 

 

The Proposed Amendments 

 

[41] Comodo’s principal amendment is to claim an alternative relief. The existing relief sought is a 

declaration that the Defendants are not members of Comodo. The new alternative relief is: 

 
“Alternatively, a declaration that the shares held by the [Defendants] have at all 
material times been held, and continue to be held, on trust for [Comodo].” 

 

On the face of it, that is a quite different alternative, particularly where there appears to be no 

allegation in any of the existing pleadings that the Disputed Shares are held on trust.   

 

[42] Comodo seeks to add new paragraphs 3 and 4 to the Re-Amended Points of Claim. Mr Chaisty 

QC says that these paragraphs are too vague, meaningless and seriously lacking in 

particularity.  

 

[43] Paragraph 3 attempts to establish that both Defendants owed Comodo fiduciary duties which 

they breached. It starts in this way: 
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“3. Further or alternatively, if which is denied, the First Defendant or Second 
Defendant is a member of [Comodo], it is averred the shares held by it [sic] were 
acquired in breach of fiduciary duties owed to [Comodo], which arose and were 
breached in the manner particularised below” 

 

There then follows eight subparagraphs of Particulars of Breach of Fiduciary Duty which I will 

not set out in full. The first seven subparagraphs set out the basis upon which the Defendants 

are said to have owed fiduciary duties to Comodo, including reliance on the joint venture 

agreement, the Colorado evidence (Renaissance’s “sole purpose and function…was to act as a 

pass through corporate vehicle”) and the fact that Renaissance was in a position of trust and 

confidence. Then subparagraph (8) reads as follows: 

“In breach of each and all of the aforesaid duties, and in dishonest assistance of each 
other’s breaches of duty, without the informed consent of [Comodo], Emanuel and the 
First Defendant failed to procure direct investment into [Comodo] of a substantial 
proportion of funds identified as available for the purpose and instead caused the same 
to be diverted to themselves and used, inter alia, to finance the acquisition of the 
shares now purportedly held by the Defendants.” 

 

[44] There are a series of problems with the rolled up pleas in this subparagraph: 

(a) It introduces for the first time into this case a plea of dishonest assistance; Mr Francis says 

that there is no other way to describe the conduct of the Defendants; that may be so but it 

is still the first time that it has been alleged and there are no particulars of dishonesty 

pleaded (contrary to the very strict requirements to do so – see Lord Millett’s judgment in 

Three Rivers District Council v The Governor and Company of the Bank of 

England7); 

(b) Mr Francis said that the allegation was made to cover any argument that might be made 

about the capacity that Mr Emanuel was acting under; so that he was either personally in 

breach of duty and assisted by himself as a director of Renaissance or as a director he had 

caused Renaissance to act in breach of fiduciary duty and he had personally dishonestly 

assisted that; while this novel plea might be thought to cover all bases, it seems to me that 

the dishonest assistance allegation does not actually lead anywhere in terms of the relief 

sought – it cannot give rise in itself to a trust; 

                                                           
7 [2003] 2 AC 1, at paras. 183 to 190. 
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(c) It refers to “a substantial proportion of funds” but that is a very imprecise plea and at this 

late stage of the proceedings, the Defendants are entitled to know exactly what is being 

alleged; 

(d) It also refers to the “funds identified as available for the purpose” but it is wholly unclear 

which funds are said to have been identified and how and by whom that was done; 

(e) It says that the funds were “used, inter alia, to finance…” which implies that some of the 

funds were not so used; again there needs to be clarity in the pleadings and it is too late 

now to put the burden on the Defendants to make requests for further information. 

 

[45] Paragraph 4 then says as follows: 

“On the aforesaid further or alternative premise, the said shares have accordingly been 
held at all material times, and continue to be held by the First Defendant and 
Emanuel/the Second Defendant on a constructive trust for the benefit of [Comodo]; 
and the First Defendant and the Second Defendant are bound to deal with the same in 
accordance with the Claimant’s directions.” 

 

[46] This is a completely new allegation that the Disputed Shares are held on constructive trust. Mr 

Chaisty QC drew my attention to what is said in paragraph 71 of Comodo’s skeleton argument 

as follows: 

“The monies taken from investors were misappropriated in breach of fiduciary duty and 
held by the Defendants at all material times on constructive trust for Comodo, which is 
entitled to trace into the Disputed Shares these monies were used to purchase.” 

 
That purports to be a summary of the proposed amendments to the Re-Amended Points of 

Claim yet for the first time there is mention of tracing as part of Comodo’s claim. Mr Chaisty QC 

says that that potentially opens up a number of issues including whether the Defendants might 

want to plead defences to tracing such as change of position (if that is a defence8). Probably 

more importantly, it highlights that there is a disconnect in the proposed amended pleading 

between the third party investment monies and the Disputed Shares. The Re-Amended Reply 

and Defence to Counterclaim had pleaded a Quistclose trust of the monies in favour of the 

third party investors, not Comodo and a trust of the monies for the Loan shares for Comodo. In 

                                                           
8 Snell’s Equity 33rd Ed suggests that the authorities are divided on this. 
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short, the pleadings are confusing in relation to the trust claims and the position has not been 

made clearer by the proposed amendments. 

 

[47] The proposed amendments to the Re-Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim really 

follow from the proposed amendments to the Re Amended Points of Claim. There is no need 

for me to deal with them in any detail. It seems to me that they stand or fall with the primary 

amendments to the Re-Amended Points of Claim.  

 

Legal Issues 

 

(a) Limitation 

 

[48] Comodo is seeking to introduce a new claim, the declarations that the Disputed Shares are 

held on trust for Comodo. (I have not had any submissions as to whether it is possible, as a 

matter of law, for shares issued by Comodo to be immediately impressed with a trust for 

Comodo. It seems to me that this is a curious proposition.) The new claim is based on alleged 

breaches of fiduciary duty that took place many years ago between 1999 and 2003. 

Accordingly, CPR 20.2 is potentially engaged. It provides: 

“20.2 (1) This rule applies to a change in a statement of case after the end of a 
relevant limitation period. 

(2) The court may allow an amendment the effect of which will be to add 
or substitute a new claim but only if the new claim arises out of the same or 
substantially the same facts as a claim in respect of which the party wishing to 
change the statement of case has already claimed a remedy in the 
proceedings.”9 

 

[49] It should not be forgotten that the reason this is important is because, if the amendment is 

allowed, it will be treated as though the new claim was made at the time the Claim Form was 

issued. In other words, the Defendants will be deprived of a limitation defence and Comodo is 

effectively asking the Court to make a summary determination that a limitation defence is not 

available to the Defendants. There is no dispute between the parties that the burden of proof is 

                                                           
9 There is no equivalent of s.35 of the English Limitation Act 1980 in the BVI Limitation Ordinance (although the 
English procedural rule in CPR 17.4 is in identical terms to CPR 20.2), a point that may be relevant to the new 
facts and dealt with below.  
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on Comodo. Furthermore, the Court retains a discretion, even if the particular matters in CPR 

20.2 are satisfied. 

  

[50] The first question therefore is whether the new claim is being introduced “after the end of a 

relevant limitation period”. It is for Comodo to prove that the Defendants’ limitation 

defence/argument is not reasonably arguable – see Chandra v Brooke North10  and Ballinger 

v Mercer Ltd11. That is a high bar for Comodo but Mr Francis fairly accepted that this is the 

appropriate test. If he does not prove that it is not reasonably arguable, then Comodo has to 

prove the other matters in CPR 20.2. 

 

[51] The limitation issues concern s.19 of the Limitation Ordinance 1961 (Cap 43), the equivalent of 

s.21 of the English Limitation Act 1980. The material provisions of s.19 are as follows: 

 

“19. (1) No period of limitation prescribed by this Ordinance shall apply to an 
action by a beneficiary under a trust, being an action –  

(a) In respect of any fraud or fraudulent breach of trust to which the trustee 
was a party or privy; or 

(b) To recover from the trustee trust property or the proceeds thereof in the 
possession of the trustee, or previously received by the trustee and 
converted to his use. 

(2) Subject as aforesaid, an action by a beneficiary to recover trust 
property or in respect of any breach of trust, not being an action for which a 
period of limitation is prescribed by any other provision of this Ordinance, shall 
not be brought after the expiration of six years from the date on which the right 
of action accrued…” 

 

[52] The issue is whether this is a claim by Comodo within s.19(1)(b) “to recover from the trustee 

trust property or the proceeds thereof” as Mr Francis argues or whether it is within s.19(2) as 

Mr Chaisty QC argues on the basis that it is not within s.19(1)(b). I should perhaps refine that 

issue to say that Comodo has to prove that it is not reasonably arguable that the new claim is 

within s.19(2) rather than s.19(1)(b). (Mr Francis did also rely, in his oral submissions, on 

s.19(1)(a) but as Comodo has not pleaded fraud in this respect – save the vague plea of 

dishonest assistance – that does not seem to me to be reasonably arguable.) 

[53] The critical question is whether the constructive trust pleaded in the proposed new paragraph 4 

of the Re-Amended Points of Claim is a so-called class 1 institutional constructive trust or a 

                                                           
10 [2003] EWCA Civ 1559. 
11 [2014] EWCA Civ 996. 
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class 2 remedial constructive trust – both of which were devised and explained by Millett LJ (as 

he then was) in Paragon Finance plc v DB Thakerar & Co12 (see also the explanation of the 

distinction in Williams v Central Bank of Nigeria13). This in turn depends on an analysis of 

where the line is to be drawn between two cases: JJ Harrison (Properties) Ltd v Harrison14 

(“Harrison”), relied on by Mr Francis; and Gwembe Valley Development Co Ltd v Koshy 

(No. 3)15 (“Gwembe Valley”), relied on by Mr Chaisty QC. 

 

[54] Snell’s Equity, 33rd Ed in para. 7-063 refers to both Harrison and Gwembe Valley in the 

passage set out below: 

 

“Nor does the six-year limitation period apply where the claim is in reality a claim to 
recover trust property. This includes situations where the fiduciary was not expressly 
appointed as a trustee but assumed the duties of a trustee by a lawful transaction and 
that transaction is not impugned, but does not include situations where the 
“constructive trust” which the principal claims is no more than a formula for equitable 
relief. In other words, the “trust” on which the claimant relies must pre-exist the conduct 
which constitutes the cause of action. Thus a director of a company who obtains 
property from the company in breach of fiduciary duty holds that property on 
constructive trust and cannot assert a limitation period against a claim for the return of 
the property as “his obligations as a trustee in relation to that property predate the 
transaction by which it was conveyed to him”.16 But claims against a director of a 
company for an account of profits, and a constructive trust over those profits would 
have been time-barred after six years where the claims did not depend on the director 
having had any pre-existing responsibility for the company’s property, but rather on his 
interest in the transaction which led to the profits; the fact that the profit was made in 
the context of a pre-existing fiduciary relationship was insufficient to avoid the six-year 
limitation period (although the claims were, in the result, not statute barred because the 
director had acted fraudulently).17” 

 

[55] In Harrison, a director of a company had failed properly to disclose the development potential 

of a property owned by the company which he then acquired personally from the company. 

This had happened 11 years before proceedings were commenced. The director was held 

liable to account for the profits he made on the transaction on the basis that when the property 

was transferred to him in breach of his fiduciary duties to the company he held the property on 

constructive trust for the company. Chadwick LJ in the Court of Appeal (the other two members 

                                                           
12 [1999] 1 All ER 400. 
13 [2014] AC 1189. 
14 [2001] EWCA Civ 1467. 
15 [2003] EWCA Civ 1048. 
16 This was a quote from Harrison. 
17 This is referring to Gwembe Valley. 
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of the Court agreed) set out four propositions which he said were “beyond argument” (para. 

25): 

“(i) that a company incorporated under the Companies Acts is not trustee of its own 
property; it is both legal and beneficial owner of that property; (ii) that the property of a 
company so incorporated cannot lawfully be disposed of other than in accordance with 
the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association; (iii) that the powers to 
dispose of the company’s property, conferred upon the directors by the articles of 
association, must be exercised by the directors for the purposes, and in the interests, 
of the company; and (iv) that, in that sense, the directors owe fiduciary duties to the 
company in relation to those powers and a breach of those duties is treated as a 
breach of trust.” 

Chadwick LJ then went on to explain that if a director was the recipient of the property disposed 

of in breach of his fiduciary duties, it would be held on a Class 1 type constructive trust and so 

within s.21(1)(b) of the Limitation Act 1980 (i.e. s.19(1)(b) of the Limitation Ordinance). The 

learned Judge said as follows: 

“26. It follows from the principle that directors who dispose of the company’s 
property in breach of their fiduciary duties are treated as having committed a breach of 
trust that a person who receives the property with knowledge of breach of duty is 
treated as holding it upon trust for the company. He is said to be a constructive trustee 
of the property… 

27. It follows, also, from the principle that directors who dispose of the company’s 
property in breach of their fiduciary duties are treated as having committed a breach of 
trust that, a director who is, himself, the recipient of the property holds it upon a trust 
for the company. He, also, is described as a constructive trustee. But as Millett LJ 
explained in Paragon Finance plc v Thakerar & Co [1999] 1 All ER 400, at pp.408g-
409g, his trusteeship is different in character from that of the stranger. He falls into the 
category of persons who, in the words of Millett LJ [at p.408j] …”though not strictly 
trustees, were in an analogous position and who abused the trust and confidence 
reposed in them to obtain their principal’s property for themselves.”…. 

29. There is no doubt that Millett LJ regarded it as beyond dispute that a director 
who obtained the company’s property for himself by misuse of the powers with which 
he had been entrusted as a director was a constructive trustee within the first 
category…” 

 

[56] In my view the critical factors that put the director into the class 1 institutional constructive 

trustee category were that he was a director of the company with trustee-like duties in respect 

of the company’s property and that the particular property in question was owned by the 

company before the transaction that gave rise to the constructive trust. Thus the director had 

pre-existing trustee-like duties in respect of that property which effectively continued after it was 
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acquired by him in breach of those duties. I will come on to consider if this is the situation in 

respect of the Defendants that is proposed to be pleaded. At this stage, however, it is right to 

point out that Renaissance was never a director of Comodo, so it could not have had the 

trustee-like duties in respect of Comodo’s property or assets that are discussed in Harrison.  

 

[57] Turning now to Gwembe Valley, the defendant was the managing director of the claimant 

company, GVDC and a shareholder in it. He also owned and controlled another company, 

Lasco, which he caused to lend money to GVDC. As a result of the loans GVDC acknowledged 

a debt to Lasco of US$5.8m but this sum had been paid in Zambian currency that had only cost 

Lasco US$1m. The defendant did not disclose this to the board of GVDC nor of his interest in 

Lasco. It was held that the defendant’s liability to account for his secret profits would have been 

time-barred because this was not a class 1 type constructive trust. In the event, however, the 

claim was not time-barred because of the fraud exception in s.21(1)(a). After a thorough 

analysis of all the case law including Harrison, Mummery LJ said this at para 119 (emphasis 

added): 

 

“If that is the correct analysis, then it is clear in our view that any trust imposed on Mr 
Koshy is a class 2 trust, within Millett LJ’s classification. We agree with the judge that 
liability to account for unauthorized profits may arise within a wide spectrum of factual 
situations. However, that does not alter the analysis under s 21(1)(a) and (b), each of 
which must be applied in accordance with its own terms. We disagree, respectfully, 
with the judge in treating dishonesty as a factor taking the case from class 2 to class 1, 
for the purposes of para (b). Nor do we think that is the effect of the passage from 
Chadwick LJ’s judgment in Harrison’s case quoted by the judge ([2005] 1 BCLC 478 at 
[295]). As the judge recognized, in that case the director transferred to himself property 
which had previously belonged to the company, and in relation to which he had 
‘trustee-like responsibilities’ before the transaction in question. By contrast, Mr Koshy’s 
liability to account for undisclosed profits, and any constructive trust imposed on those 
profits, do not depend on any pre-existing responsibility for any property of the 
company. They arose directly out of the transaction which gave rise to those profits, 
and the circumstances in which it was made. The fact that Mr Koshy was in a pre-
existing fiduciary relationship with the company was not enough, by itself, to bring the 
case within class 1, any more than it was in Taylor v Davis.” 
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[58] In Halton International Inc v Guernroy Ltd18, the Court of Appeal had the occasion to 

consider this question again. Carnwath LJ pointed out the difference between Harrison and 

Gwembe Valley by saying (para. 16): 

“The difference between the two cases, in short, was that while in the former the 
director had a pre-existing “trustee-like responsibility” in relation to the particular 
property which was the subject of the action, in the latter he did not.” 

 

[59] It is necessary to return to the proposed amended claim. The constructive trust pleaded in 

paragraph 4 is said to come about because of the breaches of fiduciary duty set out in 

paragraph 3. There is no plea in paragraph 3 of any pre-existing property of Comodo in respect 

of which the Defendants are said to have owed trustee-like responsibilities. Paragraph 3 sets 

out the fiduciary duties that Comodo says the Defendants owed to it.  

 

[60] The position is actually quite confusing. The Disputed Shares are the property said to be held 

on constructive trust for Comodo. I assume it is asserted that they were subject to that 

constructive trust immediately as they were issued. Before they were issued, they did not exist. 

I do not see how it can be said that the Defendants had pre-existing duties in respect of 

property that did not even exist.  

 

[61] It may be that Comodo relies on the way it was put in paragraph 71 of its skeleton argument, 

namely that it was the “monies taken from investors” that were held on constructive trust for 

Comodo and those monies can be traced into the Disputed Shares. But this is not what is 

pleaded. And in any event if the constructive trust is only said to arise upon the 

misappropriation of the monies “taken” from investors, this too is not property that is owned by 

Comodo until the alleged misappropriation has taken place. The constructive trust only arises 

through the transaction itself and it cannot be said that there was any sort of trust of the monies 

or the shares before the transaction. There was no property that could be subject to such a 

trust.  

 

[62] I am therefore of the view that it is reasonably arguable that the pleaded claim is within s.19(2) 

of the Limitation Ordinance. Accordingly, CPR 20.2 is engaged and it is now necessary to 

consider whether Comodo can establish the other elements of CPR 20.2.  

 

                                                           
18 [2006] EWCA Civ 801. 
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[63] Self-evidently the declarations that the Disputed Shares are held on trust for Comodo are a 

new claim. It is put forward as an alternative claim in the event that the Defendants are held to 

have acquired title to the Disputed Shares and, I assume, that the share register is ordered to 

be rectified. That will only happen if Comodo does not succeed in its existing claim – non-

payment for the Disputed Shares and non-registration – and its Defence to Counterclaim based 

on the misrepresentations and Quistclose trust does not succeed either. Yet it is the same 

facts that are said to form the basis for the new claim.  

 

[64] There was a dispute between the parties as to whether I can look beyond the Re-Amended 

Points of Claim to test whether it truly is the same facts that are relied upon. Mr Francis says 

that because of the way the pleadings developed Comodo’s real case is set out in the Re-

Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim. Mr Chaisty QC says that I can only look to the 

Re-Amended Points of Claim because otherwise this could be open to abuse with a party 

issuing a claim just before the end of a limitation period but then waiting months to put the real 

case in its Reply and Defence to Counterclaim. I do not see that as a particularly likely 

scenario. I prefer to base my decision on the rules.  

 

[65] I said earlier that there is no equivalent in the BVI to s.35 of the English Limitation Act. That 

section prescribed what rules of court may provide in respect of allowing new claims to be 

made by way of amendment outside of the relevant limitation period. Section 35(4) says that 

certain conditions must be satisfied in order to allow such claims and s.35(5)(a) deals with new 

claims (emphasis added): 

 

“In the case of a claim involving a new cause of action, if the new cause of 
action arises out of the same facts or substantially the same facts as are 
already in issue on any claim previously made in the original action.” 

 

As noted above the procedural rule in response to this in England (now CPR 17.4(2)) is in the 

same terms as CPR 20.2(2). This seems slightly to narrow the scope of s.35. I have set out 

CPR 20.2 above but the crucial words are repeated: 

“…only if the new claim arises out of the same or substantially the same facts 
as a claim in respect of which the party wishing to change the statement of 
case has already claimed a remedy in the proceedings.” 
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[66] While s.35 seems to be broad enough to encompass any facts already in issue in the 

proceedings, CPR 20.2(2) is more restrictive, confining the condition to the facts supporting a 

“claim” in respect of which a remedy is currently being “claimed”. Thus the rule does tend to 

suggest that it must be the facts relating to a current claim that have to be the same or 

substantially the same as support the proposed new claim. If this had been under s.35, I can 

see that there would be an argument that facts put in issue in the Reply and Defence to 

Counterclaim might be looked at to see if they are the same or substantially the same, but I do 

not think that is permissible under CPR 20.2.  

 

[67] While that may seem on its face to be a somewhat technical approach to the meaning of CPR 

20.2, there are three matters that I consider are important to take into account in this regard: 

(1) If the amendment is allowed it is bringing in a new claim over 10 years after the expiry of 

the limitation period, assuming that the Defendants are right on that (and I have concluded 

that they may very well be) but depriving the Defendants of that absolute defence;  

(2) The original attempt to plead breach of fiduciary duty failed over 4 years ago again on 

limitation grounds and Comodo decided not to appeal that decision but instead to 

concentrate on the amendments to the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim. That is why 

Comodo is now in the situation it is with the bulk of its factual case pleaded in the Reply 

and Defence to Counterclaim; and 

(3) My attention has subsequently been drawn to a very recent decision of the English Court of 

Appeal on 14 March 2019 in Samba Financial Group v Mark Byers and Hugh Dickson, 

as liquidators of Saad Investments Company Ltd19. In the judgment of McCombe LJ 

there is reference to the impact of s.35 as applied in Goode v Martin20, but this confirms 

my view that the absence of s.35 in the BVI means that CPR 20.2 has to be construed 

without reference to it. The other important point to emerge from this judgment is that the 

analysis of “the same or substantially the same facts” should in the normal case be limited 

to an analysis of the pleadings, and not the evidence (see paras. 28 to 30, 49 to 52 and 

56). 

 

[68] The facts pleaded in the Re-Amended Points of Claim are limited to non-payment and non-

registration and the new paragraph 3 is clearly new and not substantially the same as those 

                                                           
19 [2019] EWCA Civ 416. 
20 [2002] 1 WLR 1828. 
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relied on for the original claim. Accordingly, in my judgment, Comodo has not established the 

requisite matters in CPR 20.2 and permission cannot be granted for the amendments to be 

made.  

 

[69] In any event, even if I am wrong about the interpretation of CPR 20.2, it is my view that the 

facts pleaded in the Re-Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim are not the same or 

substantially the same as the new claim. The facts currently pleaded are Comodo’s answers to 

the Counterclaim. The pleas of breach of fiduciary duty in the Re-Amended Reply and Defence 

to Counterclaim are all based on the alleged misrepresentations, which are different to the 

basis for the plea in proposed new paragraph 3 of the Re-Amended Points of Claim. And the 

plea as to the existence of a trust for Comodo of the monies received from the investors in 

respect of the alleged loans (para. 50 of the Re-Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim) 

is of a different nature to the constructive trust that is now being alleged.  

 

[70] I take the point that the so-called Colorado and other evidence as to the nature of 

Renaissance’s role as a “pass through” vehicle is evidence that is relevant both to the pleas in 

the Re-Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim and the new claim in paragraph 3 but 

that is just evidence that will be before the Court anyway; it is not facts that have been clearly 

pleaded. Comodo’s grounds of this application referred to the amendments being based on 

“facts already referred to in the pleadings and the evidence”. That may be so, but inclusion in 

the evidence rather than the pleadings is insufficient for the purpose of CPR 20.2.   

 

Other Relevant Matters 

 

[71] In the light of my conclusions above, I can deal shortly with the other matters raised by the 

parties. Even if I am wrong in my conclusions on CPR 20.2, as a matter of discretion, I would 

not have granted permission. I do not think that the proposed amendments can sensibly be 

described as merely “tidying up” the pleadings or “clarifying the relief” being claimed by 

Comodo. This is a wholly new claim being made up to 19 years after the relevant events upon 

which it is based and a year after Comodo was prepared to go into the trial without it. There is 

no new evidence that has come to light since the trial was meant to have happened last year. 

The reason for why the amendments are being proposed now when they are said to be 
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unnecessary and trivial I find unconvincing. As Mr Francis stressed to me in his oral 

submissions, this is well-resourced, hard-fought litigation in which there is equality of arms and 

in which every single point will be taken by both sides. I cannot believe that this application is 

being made for any other reason than these are now seen as important and substantive 

changes to Comodo’s case.  

 

[72] The core principles in relation to the Court’s discretion to allow amendments even at a late 

stage are well-known. Generally, if amendments can be made without causing injustice to the 

other side, which means that the other side can be adequately compensated by a costs order, 

then such amendments should be allowed in order that the applying party should be able to put 

forward its real case at trial. As Brett MR said in Clarapede & Co V Commercial Union 

Association21: 

 

“however negligent or careless may have been the first omission, and however late the 
purposed amendment, the amendment should be allowed if it can be made without 
injustice to the other side. There is no injustice if the other side can be compensated by 
costs.”22 

This has been endorsed by the Court of Appeal here in George Allert et al v Joshua 

Matheson et al23. 

 

[73] The factors that the Court is required to take into account in considering an amendment 

application are set out in CPR 20.1(3) (the same list appears in para. 4 of Practice Direction 20, 

No. 5 of 2011): 

“(3) When considering an application to amend a statement of case pursuant to 
Rule 20.1(2), the factors to which the court must have regard are – 

(a) How promptly the applicant has applied to the court after becoming aware 
that the change was one which he wished to make; 

(b) The prejudice to the applicant if the application were refused; 
(c) The prejudice to the other parties if the change were permitted; 
(d) Whether any prejudice to any other party can be compensated by the 

payment of costs and or interest; 
(e) Whether the trial date or any likely trial date can still be met if the 

application is granted; 

                                                           
21 (1883) 32 WR 262. 
22 A statement that Neuberger J (as he then was) referred to as having a “universal and timeless validity” – 
Charlesworth v Relay Roads Ltd et al [2000] 1 WLR 230, 235. 
23 GDAHCVAP 2017/0007. 
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(f) The administration of justice.” 

 

(a) Promptness of the Application 

 

[74] Comodo said in its notice of application that: “the Applicant has made this application promptly 

after becoming aware it wished to make the amendments”. I do not think that that is an 

adequate explanation for when this application was made. This factor raises the question as to 

why the application is being made when it is, rather than the obvious point that it is being made 

after Comodo has decided to make it.  

 

[75] Some of the authorities in England have sought to distinguish between “late” and “very late” 

applications but I do not find that a particularly helpful guide. As Briggs LJ (as he then was) 

said in Hague Plant Limited v Hague and ors24: 

 

“33. I consider that the judge was entitled to approach the relevance of lateness in 
this way. Lateness is not an absolute but a relative concept. As Mr Randall put 
it, a tightly focussed, properly explained and fully particularised short 
amendment in August may not be too late, whereas a lengthy, ill-defined, 
unfocussed and unexplained amendment proferred in the previous March may 
be too late. It all depends upon a careful review of the nature of the proposed 
amendment, the quality of the explanation for its timing and a fair appreciation 
of its consequences in terms of work wasted and consequential work to be 
done… 

34. Lateness, used in this way, is a factor of almost infinitely variable weight, when 
striking the necessary balance in determining whether or not to permit 
amendments…” 

 

[76] As was pointed out by Hamblen J (as he then was) in Brown v Innovatorone Plc and ors25, 

after quoting from Swain-Mason v Mills & Reeve26 (a “very late” application at the trial) 

(emphasis added): 

“As the authorities make clear, it is a question of striking a fair balance. The factors 
relevant to doing so cannot be exhaustively listed since much will depend on the facts 
of each case. However they are likely to include: 

(1) The history as regards the amendment and the explanation as to why it is 
being made late; 

                                                           
24 [2014] EWCA Civ 1609. 
25 [2011] EWHC 3221 (Comm). 
26 [2011] 1 WLR 2735. 
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(2) The prejudice which will be caused to the applicant if the amendment is 
refused; 

(3) The prejudice which will be caused to the resisting party if the amendment 
is allowed; 

(4) Whether the text of the amendment is satisfactory in terms of clarity and 
particularity.” 

 

[77] Mr Francis said that the Defendants have known since at the latest January 2018 that Comodo 

was relying on the Colorado evidence. The point is actually against Comodo because if the 

Colorado evidence is the basis for these amendments, it leaves a period of at least 10 months 

when Comodo could have made its application to amend. It decided it did not need to amend 

for the trial in March 2018 but it still took until late October 2018 before there was any hint of a 

possible amendment. Mr Abdulhayoglu has tried to explain this period in his Fourteenth 

Affidavit and while I can see that there was a fair amount going on in the litigation then in terms 

of applications and appeals, it does not explain why Comodo changed its mind about the 

adequacy of its pleadings.  

 

[78] The lack of clarity and particularity (see point 4 in Brown v Innovatorone above) and the 

cogency of the proposed amendments are factors to be taken into account in assessing the 

relevance of lateness. As I have concluded above, the new paragraphs 3 and 4 are seriously 

lacking in particulars and are vague pleadings for this stage of the proceedings. Furthermore it 

is unclear how a constructive trust for Comodo can arise in the circumstances pleaded. Mr 

Francis says that anything that is unclear in the pleading can be further clarified in time for the 

trial but that is not very satisfactory when the amendments themselves are said to be a 

clarification of the existing case. It has to stop somewhere.  

 

[79] So I consider that the lack of an adequate explanation for the lateness of the application, 

together with unclear and unparticularised proposed amendments make the timing of the 

application an important factor in the exercise of my discretion.  

 

(b) Prejudice to Comodo if application refused 

 

[80] As Mr Francis accepted that the application was not necessary and that Comodo was content 

to go into the trial last March on the existing pleadings based on the same evidence, it is a little 

difficult to see that there is any real prejudice to Comodo in my refusing its application. Comodo 
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says it wants to “flush out” any opposition that may come from the Defendants at trial in relation 

to the pleadings, and while I suppose that my refusal to allow the amendments may make that 

even more likely, I do not believe that pleading points would have been eradicated if I had 

allowed the amendments.  

 

(c) Prejudice to the Defendants if the amendments are allowed 

 

[81] While I agree with Mr Francis that the extent of the prejudice asserted by the Defendants is 

probably exaggerated, it seems that Comodo has been engaged on an evidence gathering 

exercise in the US, partly to try to obtain further evidence to support its case as to the role of 

Renaissance. I do not see why the Defendants should not also be entitled fully to explore the 

issue of Renaissance’s role by seeking evidence from other investors who obtained their 

shares through the Defendants. The amendments bring this point sharply into focus and so it 

would be prejudicial at this late stage to be embarking on a further round of evidence. It could 

threaten the trial date, which both parties say they have no intention of doing, but it is not 

inconceivable that applications would be mounted on the back of my grant of permission to 

amend, for disclosure and other evidence.  

 

(d) Can the Defendants be adequately compensated in costs 

 

[82] As Mr Francis has said, the Defendants are very well resourced and have a large team of 

lawyers in various jurisdictions acting for them. They could cope with doing whatever they have 

to in responding to the amendments and seeking further evidence. As such they can be 

adequately compensated in costs. That may be so, but it is only one factor to go in the balance 

and if there is an actual threat to the trial date, then it becomes, in my view, a factor with little 

weight – I refer to what was said in the unreported English Court of Appeal decision in 

Worldwide Corpn Ltd v GPT Ltd27 – it is set out in para. 69 of Swain-Mason supra: 

“In the modern era it is more readily recognized that in truth the payment of costs of an 
adjournment may well not adequately compensate someone who is desirous of being 
rid of a piece of litigation which has been hanging over his head for some time, and 
may not adequately compensate him for being totally (and we are afraid there are no 
better words for it) ‘mucked around’ at the last moment. 

                                                           
27 unreported 2 December 1998. 
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I do not say that that is what Comodo is doing in this case but I think the threat to the trial date 

is more real than it was suggesting.  

(e) Threat to the trial date 

 

[83] I accept that both parties do not want to lose the trial date for a second time. Comodo says that 

there is no jeopardy to the trial date. I sincerely hope so. However, neither party was prepared 

to say that they would not appeal this judgment and I understand why they could not commit to 

that, certainly before seeing it. I have endeavoured to produce this judgment as quickly as 

possible following the hearing and other commitments but I cannot rule out the possibility that 

Comodo will not seek to appeal and that that could jeopardise the trial date. In other words, it is 

a relevant factor.  

 

(f) The administration of justice 

 

[84] I have to bear in mind the overriding objective, the impact on other litigants of lost judicial time 

and whether generally it is in the interests of justice that the amendments should be allowed. 

Clearly if the trial date is lost shortly before it is due to begin as a result of these amendments, 

then it will affect the proper administration of justice.  

 

[85] To my mind the core problem with this application is that it lacks a clear purpose. Just wishing 

to “tweak” the pleadings or “clarify” the relief being sought is a shaky basis for making such an 

application not long before the trial. As I have said, I consider the amendments to be much 

more substantial than Comodo suggests they are and it perhaps would have been better if it 

recognised that, rather than justifying the application by reference to how it anticipated the 

Defendants would behave in relation to the pleadings at the trial.  

 

 

[86] In all the circumstances and taking into account and balancing the factors set out above, I do 

not consider that the interests of justice would be served by allowing these amendments at this 

stage of the proceedings, even if I am wrong about the limitation issue.  
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Conclusion 

[87] I dismiss Comodo’s application for permission to amend its pleadings. 

  

[88] I am grateful to counsel for their clear and helpful submissions.  

 

 

Hon Mr Justice Michael Green QC 

Commercial Court Judge [Ag] 

 

        
 

 

 

By the Court 

 

 

 

 

Registrar 

 

 


